IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, JR., :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case SC02-37

No.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

Appellee.

:

____:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender

FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of two sections and a supplement. The first part, contained in volumes I through IX, consists of documents filed with the clerk, pre- and post-trial hearings, and the presentence investigation. References to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by volume number, followed by "R" and page number. The second part of the record on appeal is contained in volumes X through XX and consists of trial and penalty phase transcripts. References to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by volume number, followed by "T" and page number. References to the single volume supplement will be designated "S" and page number. References to the portion of the record in Case No. 89,385 which Appellant asked this Court to take judicial notice of will be designated "PR" followed by volume number and page number. References to the Appendix to this brief (containing the court's sentencing order) will be designated "A" and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pasco County grand jury returned an indictment on February 19, 1991, charging Appellant, Oscar Ray Bolin, Jr., with first degree murder in the December 5, 1986 death of Teri Lynn Matthews (I, R1-2). In 1992, Appellant was tried, convicted and sentenced to death for this homicide. On appeal this Court reversed Bolin's conviction because improper evidence had been admitted at his trial. See, Bolin v. State, 650 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 1995).

On remand, Bolin was again tried, convicted and sentenced to death. On appeal, this Court reversed a second time based upon denial of individual voir dire on pretrial publicity during jury selection. (I, R13-29).

See, Bolin v. State, 736 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 1999).

The retrial commenced October 15, 2001 before Circuit Judge Craig C. Villanti (X, T1). The record does not reflect whether the venire was sworn prior to jury selection. During jury selection, defense counsel challenged nine of the prospective jurors for cause based upon their answers suggesting that they would not allow

the defendant a presumption of innocence, but would require him to prove his innocence (XI, T326-31). The court denied the challenges for cause and Appellant exercised peremptory strikes to remove six of these prospective jurors (XI, T334-41).

Later, after the defense had exhausted peremptory challenges, defense counsel requested two additional peremptories and specified the prospective jurors whom he would excuse (XII, T457-8). After reviewing the questionnaires of these prospective jurors, the court declined to grant any extra peremptory challenges (XII, T458-9).

During trial, Juror Bradley discovered that she knew witness Kathleen Reeves (mother of the victim) as a customer of hers at Home Depot (XIV, T753). Bradley stated that this would not affect her ability to be impartial because "she [Reeves] wouldn't know who voted which way" (XIV, T753-6). Defense counsel's motion to strike Juror Bradley was overruled, but the trial judge said that he would be willing to reconsider his ruling later (XIV, T759-60).

Subsequently, after closing arguments and jury

instructions, the judge revisited the ruling on juror Bradley (XIX, T1654-5). At that point, defense counsel withdrew the motion to strike the juror (XIX, T1654). Counsel was asked by the judge to consult with Appellant to make sure that he was in agreement (XIX, T1654-5). Counsel reported back that he had consulted with Appellant and wanted to keep Ms. Bradley on the jury (XIX, T1655).

On the morning of October 19, 2001, it was reported that juror Cox telephoned the jury manager and a judicial assistant to inform them that he had breathing problems and would have to go to his doctor or an emergency room (XVI, T984). A hearing was held where the two persons who had spoken to juror Cox testified about what the juror had related to them (XVI, T990-4). Both agreed that juror Cox said that he has a history of emphysema and usually has to go to the hospital when he has breathing difficulties (XVI, T990-4). It was unclear as to whether the juror might be available later in the day or during the next week (XVI, T991-2). Over Appellant's objection that no medical information or update had been sought, the trial judge ruled that al-

ternate juror Tuttle would replace juror Cox (XVI, T995-6).

During the testimony of state witness David Walsh, defense counsel objected when the prosecutor asked the witness if the DNA evidence was a "match" with Bolin's (XVI, T1162-3). Appellant argued that use of the term "match" was improper under National Research Council standards (XVI, T1163-4). The prosecutor agreed that current standards disallowed such testimony, but stated that the judge in the prior trial had conducted a Frye hearing and ruled the witness could give this opinion (XVI, T1163). He urged the judge to allow the testimony based upon this Court's failure to comment about this issue in the opinion reversing for a new trial (XVI, T1163). The court ruled that the doctrine of "law of the case" applied and made the witness's opinion admissible (XVI, T1164-5). The prosecutor went on to ask whether there was a match "within a reasonable degree of certainty in your profession" (XVI, T1165-6). Walsh replied, "Yes, there was" (XVI, T1166).

Defense counsel's motion for judgment of acquittal

¹See, Bolin v. State, 736 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 1999).

was heard and denied (XVII, T1280). After the defense case had been presented, a renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was also denied (XVIII, T1493). The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree as charged on October 24, 2001 (III, R467; XIX, T1660).

Before the penalty phase began, defense counsel told the court that Appellant wanted to waive a jury recommendation (XIX, T1669). After further inquiry, the judge held an on-the-record colloquy with Appellant (XX, T1684-9). The jury was discharged (XX, T1691-3). The court made a finding that Bolin's waiver was knowing, voluntary and intelligent (XX, T1715). Testimony from three state witnesses with regard to aggravating circumstances was presented to the judge alone (XX, T1693-1736). The court stated that the defense could present whatever evidence in mitigation they wanted at the Spencer hearing (XX, T1743). A presentence investigation was ordered (XX, T1744-5).

On December 14, 2001, the <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held (VIII, R1513-36). Defense counsel stated that Appellant had instructed him not to call any witnesses nor present

any evidence in mitigation (VIII, R1513). Counsel did dispute several allegations in the presentence investigation and noted that Appellant found it prejudicial to sentencing in that it contained additional aggravation (VIII, R1517-9).

The judge made personal inquiry of Appellant to make certain that he intended to waive presentation of mitigating evidence (VIII, R1521-3, 1526-8, 1530-1). fense counsel rested on the written sentencing memorandum with respect to contesting the aggravating factors argued by the State (VIII, R1527). Defense counsel stated that he was unaware of any additional mitigation that had not been presented in prior trials, the presentence investigation, or otherwise brought to the court's attention (VIII, R1529-30). The prosecutor was also asked about awareness of other mitigation and replied that transcripts of prior proceedings had been furnished (VIII, R1532-4). The judge asserted that he would read all of the material and consider it before sentencing (VIII, R1534-5).

Sentencing was held December 28, 2001 (IX, R1700-36). Appellant addressed the judge, maintaining his

innocence (IX, R1702-8). He complained that this trial was as unfair as the previous ones which were reversed on appeal (IX, R1702-8). The court proceeded to announce the findings in his sentencing order (IX, R1709-36).

Three aggravating circumstances were found applicable: 1) prior violent felony [F.S. 921.141(5)(b)], 2) during the course of a kidnapping and attempted sexual battery [F.S. 921.141(5)(d)], and 3) especially heinous, atrocious or cruel [F.S. 921.141(5)(h)] [IX, R1710-22; IV, R718-23 (see Appendix)]. The court considered each of the statutory mitigating circumstances and found only impaired capacity [F.S. 921.141(6)(f)] applicable (IX, R1722-5; IV, R724-6 (see Appendix)]. Eleven nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were found and weighed (IX, R1725-35; IV, R726-32 (see Appendix)].

The court concluded that "each and every one of the aggravating factors in this case, standing alone, is more than sufficient to outweigh the entirety of mitigation" [IX, R1735; IV, R732 (see Appendix)]. A sentence of death was imposed [IX, R1736; IV, R732 (see Appendix); IV, R733-9].

Appellant filed his notice of appeal December 28, 2001 (IV, R741). The Public Defender was appointed for appellate representation (IV, R742). Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

About 10:00 a.m. on December 5, 1986, Donald Ray Gibson was headed to work when he saw what he thought was a flock of turkeys close to Greenfield road in the Kent Groves area of Pasco County (XIII, T530-3). He had his friend stop the vehicle and got out when he realized that the birds were buzzards (XIII, T533). Gibson walked up a little hill on the side of a dirt road and discovered a female body wrapped in a sheet (XIII, T533-5). He did not touch the body, but observed that there were no shoes (XIII, T535). Fresh truck tire tracks led up to the body (XIII, T536). He had his friend notify the Pasco County Sheriff's Office (XIII, T536).

Deputy Robert Wood responded to the scene and was shown the body by Gibson (XIII, T550). It was located fifteen to twenty feet off the road (XIII, T550-1). The dead young woman had head injuries, was wrapped in a sheet, and was clothed except for her shoes (XIII, T551-2). The deputy noted that the body was wet although it had not rained recently (XIII, T552). He saw a set of single tire tracks going in and out of the location

(XIII, T558-9).

A crime scene technician, Roy Steven Corrigan, testified that he also thought it strange that the body was wet when there hadn't been any rain for at least two days (XIII, T576). He collected a sheet wrapped around the victim which bore the logo of St. Joseph's Hospital (XIII, T5779). A set of car keys was found by the left arm of the body (XIII, T579-80, 595).

Deputy Corrigan was directed to take plaster cast impressions of the tire tracks leading to the body (XIII, T582-5). He took nylon hose off the body into evidence, but was unable to locate any shoes (XIII, T595-7). Other clothing on the body included a pair of white slacks and a white sweater over a blue sweater (XIII, T601).

PCSO homicide investigator Kenneth Hagin testified that he also went to the location where the body was found (XIII, T617-8). He arrived in the early afternoon and saw the victim lying facedown, dressed in a white sweater and white slacks (XIII, T618). A sheet, marked in red ink "St. Joseph's Hospital, 3-80" was wrapped around the body (XIII, T618). Although the body was

wet, everything else was dry and there weren't any bodies of water nearby (XIII, T619). Investigator Hagin observed some heavy tire tracks in the vicinity of the body (XIII, T619). These were single tire tracks, not dual tire tracks (XIII, T623).

Gary McClelland testified that he and his girlfriend, Teri Matthews, had spent time together after
work on December 4, 1986 (XIII, T634). They both worked
at the NCNB check processing center and got off work
around 11:00 p.m. (XIII, T634). About three hours
later, Matthews left for her home in Pasco County
(XIII, T635).

McClelland became concerned when she failed to telephone him as she customarily did after getting home (XIII, T636-7). He telephoned her home the next morning and learned that Matthews had never returned home (XIII, T637). He decided to drive along the route she would have taken home (XIII, T637). As he drove by the Land O'Lakes post office, he saw the red Honda owned by Matthews sitting in the parking lot (XIII, T637-8).

As he went to the car, he found mail belonging to Matthews and her parents on the ground outside the car

door (XIII, T640). The headlights of the car were still on and Matthews' purse was on the seat (XIII, T640-1).

McClelland later met with a deputy at the post office (XIII, T620, 642). They viewed a videotape made by a surveillance monitor in the post office lobby (XIII, T611, 642, 651). McClelland identified Teri Matthews on the videotape (XIII, T642, 651-2, 661-4). A timing device on the videotape indicated that it was 2:40 a.m. when Matthews picked up mail from her family's post office box (XIII, 611, 645; XIV, T674-5).

Gary McClelland's father, Charles McClelland, was requested to go to the Medical Examiner's Office in Largo where he identified the body of Teri Matthews (XIII, T646-7). Dr. Edward Corcoran, former associate medical examiner for Pinellas and Pasco counties, testified that he performed an autopsy on the victim (XVI, T1119). He found the cause of death to be a combination of 14 blunt trauma injuries to the head and 5 stab wounds (XVI, T1119-20). One stab wound to the neck was potentially fatal (XVI, T 1126). There was no way to determine the sequence in which the wounds were inflicted (XVI, T1128).

The police investigation was unproductive until July 1990 when Lee Baker, a homicide investigator with the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office, met with Appellant's ex-wife, Cheryl Colby, in Portland, Indiana (XIV, T745-7). From speaking with her, Baker decided to question Philip Bolin, Appellant's half-brother, who was also living in Indiana (XIV, T749-51).

A) Purported Eyewitness Testimony.

Philip Bolin became the State's star witness at trial. He testified that in December 1986, he was living with his parents on Valencia Drive in Pasco County (XV, T765). He attended Sanders Elementary School (XV, T766). On December 4, 1986, his parents were away in North Carolina, working with a carnival (XV, T766). Philip, age 13, was sleeping in a small camper trailer owned by his sister which was parked beside the main family residence (XV, T766-7). Appellant also owned a camper which was parked on the property (XV, T767-8).

During the night, Philip was awakened by a knock on the door (XV, T768-9). When he opened it, Appellant told him to get dressed and come outside (XV, T769-71).

Appellant appeared to be "scared and nervous" and told Philip that he needed his help (XV, T772). The two of them walked toward Appellant's camper (XV, T772).

Philip heard a muffled sound and imagined that Appellant might have run over his dog (XV, T773). Instead, he saw a big white sheet with something under it (XV, T774). According to Philip, Appellant told him that it was a girl who had been shot near the Land O'Lakes Post Office (XV, T774-5). Philip said that Appellant went over to the body, straddled it, and raised a wooden stick with a metal end over his head (XV, T776-7). Philip turned his head and heard several thumping sounds which he compared to hitting a pillow with a stick (XV, T777-8).

Next, Appellant asked Philip to get a water hose and turn it on (XV, T778). Philip was afraid and refused, so Appellant got the hose himself (XV, T778-9). He sprayed the body with the hose (XV, T779). Then Appellant asked Philip to help him load the body onto a wrecker which was parked nearby (XV, T780). Philip described the wrecker as a black Ford with four wheels on the rear and two in front (XV, T776-7). Philip tes-

tified that he had not seen the wrecker before (XV, T777).

After several demands, Philip picked up the body by the ankles and noticed that there were no shoes (XV, T781). He felt nylon stockings on the legs (XV, T781-2). Appellant and Philip placed the body on the side of the wrecker (XV, T782). Although Appellant offered him money to go with him, Philip refused to help dispose of the body (XV, T782).

Appellant drove the wrecker in the direction of Coon Hide Road and returned twenty or thirty minutes later (XV, T783). When Appellant returned, he seemed calmer and explained to Philip that the girl was shot "in some kind of big drug deal" (XV, T783-4). Appellant asked Philip to go to Tampa with him, but Philip said that he had to go to school the next day (XV, T784-5). When Appellant left, Philip unsuccessfully tried to go back to sleep (XV, T785-6).

The next day at school, Philip talked with his closest friend, Danny Ferns, about what happened the night before (XV, T786). After school, Philip showed Danny where the body had been (XV, T787). There was

blood on the grass in that area (XV, T787). Philip said that he never told his parents or anyone else about the incident because he was afraid (XV, T788).

The Bolin family moved to Kentucky soon afterwards (XV, T787, 810). Then in 1989, Philip moved in with an aunt and cousin who lived in Union City, Indiana (XV, T789-90). It was there that detectives from Florida interviewed him in July, 1990 (XV, T790). Then he moved back to live with his parents in West Liberty, Kentucky through 1996 (XV, T791-2). In January 1996, he was visited by Rosalie Martinez (now Bolin) who was working on Appellant's legal representation (XV, T792). Because Oscar Ray Bolin, Sr. was very hurt that Philip would testify against Appellant, Philip decided to write out a recantation of the statement which he had given to the police about Appellant's involvement in this homicide (XV, 793-6).

At trial, Philip Bolin testified that much of the language in the recantation was suggested to him by Rosalie Martinez (XV, T804-5). Rosalie Martinez and his parents drove him to a notary where the document was signed and witnessed (XV, T805-6).

On crossexamination, Philip said that his younger brother Clarence had also stayed behind when his parents went to North Carolina (XV, T811). Clarence stayed with a family named Kinnard while the parents were gone but Philip denied that he had stayed with Clarence and the Kinnards on the night of December 4th (XV, T812-4). Philip also agreed that he normally lived in his parents double-wide trailer where he had a room (XV, T813). He did not explain why he moved into his sister's trailer while she was gone with his parents on the trip to North Carolina (XV, T813--4).

Philip also agreed that Appellant had come to his trailer "around 11:00, 12:00, 1:00 a.m." (XV, T815-6).

Although Philip admitted that he had given that time range under oath, he said that it was a guess (XV, T816, 822).

Philip also admitted that he had seen Appellant's ex-wife, Cheryl, while he was living in Union City (XV, T828-9). When he wrote the statement "I have in no way any informations regarding this homicide" and signed the affidavit in front of the notary, he was just trying "to stay in the good graces of everybody there" (XV, T831-

2).

Philip Bolin was again impeached when he denied signing another statement later (XV, T832). He was shown the transcript of a telephone conversation and admitted that he had also taken this transcript almost a year later to a notary to have his signature on it notarized (XV, T833). The witness said that he remembered the telephone conversation but didn't "recall that period" of time (XV, T834). In the defense case, the transcript of this conversation was read to the jury (XVIII, T1488-91). The telephone call was made by Philip Bolin to Rosalie Martinez on July 10, 1996 and concerned statements which Philip Bolin had given to law enforcement June 29, 1996 (XVIII, T1488-9).

In this telephone call, Philip Bolin stated that law enforcement had "put words in his mouth" (XVIII, T1489). Two Pasco County officers had threatened to put him in jail if he didn't say that Rosalie Bolin had coerced him into making the recantation statement on January 20, 1996 (XVIII, T1489). Philip Bolin admitted that he had recanted his prior testimony against Appellant "on [his] own free will" (XVIII, T1491).

Further impeachment of Philip Bolin's testimony came from Philip's mother (Appellant's stepmother), Gertrude Bolin (XVIII, T1468-86). She testified that in early December 1986, she and her husband were on the road in a carnival and left their children Philip and Clarence with neighbors named Kinnard (XVIII, T1468-9, 1472). Her daughter, Melonda, did not have a trailer (XVIII, T1469-70, 1476). When the witness and her husband went on the road, they took the water hose with them to use in their camper trailer (XVIII, T1470).

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