IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, JR.

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-37

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 801-0600
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

 4). The parties had accepted Tuttle as a valid

alternate and it is difficult to avoid the suspicion that Bolin's claim is disingenuous regarding a desire to keep juror Cox when earlier he had sought an extra peremptory challenge for the specific purpose of removing Cox (R13, 482).

Appellant's claim is meritless. The failure of Bolin to demonstrate an abuse of discretion requires rejection of this claim and denial of any application for reversal and remand for a new trial.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING EXPERT DNA TESTIMONY ASSERTEDLY ON THE GROUND THAT A PRIOR RULING WAS LAW OF THE CASE.

Standard of Review - the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be reversed absent a clear abuse of that discretion. See Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997).

During the testimony of state witness David Walsh, a staff molecular biologist who had worked for Cellmark Laboratories, defense counsel objected to the question whether in his opinion there was a match of the bands in the semen sample as compared to the bands in Oscar Ray Bolin's blood. The defense complained that the use of the word "match" was improper but that the word likelihood could be used. The state responded that there had been a prior hearing on the issue, that the court had ruled on it and the case had been appealed. (R16, 1162 - 1163). The defense replied that after the last trial the National Research Council revised its view. The state countered that the defense could pursue it on cross-examination (that it went to weight not admissibility). The court initially observed that a ruling had

been made and had become the law of the case and if the defense wanted to change the law of the case they should have asked for a new <u>Frye</u> hearing; it went to weight not admissibility (R16, 1164).

The defense clarified that he was not asking for a <u>Frye</u> hearing (the previous <u>Frye</u> hearing had been on the admissibility of DNA evidence) and that he was only objecting to the form of the question. This colloquy ensued:

"The Court: That's different then. The form of the question was in your opinion. Now he didn't say within a reasonable degree of medical probability; is that why you're objecting?

Mr. Swisher: That's part of it, yeah.
The Court: Any objection to rephrasing it?
Mr. Halkitis: Yeah, no problem.
The Court: Okay. Let's move on then".
(R16, 1165)

The testimony then continued without further objection:

- "Q. Sir, I just want to qualify my last question by asking you within a reasonable degree of certainty in your opinion was there a match between the two?
- A. Yes, there was.
- Q. In your opinion did it come from the same source?
- A. In my opinion it did come from the same source." (R16, 1166)

Defense counsel cross-examined Walsh (R17, 1171 - 1194).

On cross-examination, the witness stated it was apparent that the book he was being shown was the second one from 1996 of the National Research Counsel and he was familiar with it.

(R17, 1179). Then, this exchange occurred:

- "Q. Do you recognize that as an authority in the field?
- A. To the extent of the way we do our procedures, but I am not a population geneticist, so for the population genetics portion I don't feel qualified to comment on that as an expert" (R17, 1179).

The defense moved to strike his testimony regarding a match since he was not qualified as a population geneticist (R1180). The court denied the motion to strike (R1181). Walsh testified that a population geneticist was a person who specializes in the statistical analysis and the genetics of populations of origin to determine the overall frequences and appearances of certain characteristics of the DNA in various populations (R1190).

Dr. Christopher Basten, as expert in population genetics (R1213-18), then testified without objection that "on the average you'd expect to see about one in 2,100 individuals in the caucasian population with the same profile at the DNA level". He explained that the likelihood ratio was that it was 2100 times more likely that Bolin is the source than if it's some random unrelated person (R17, 1228 - 1231).

(A) The instant claim is procedurally barred -

The lower court resolved appellant's complaint at trial regarding the use of the word "match" in the testimony. If appellant believed that there was an improper ruling about the

law of the case he certainly did not register that objection contemporaneously nor subsequently; it was not mentioned among the grounds asserted in his motion for new trial (R3, 471 - 472). If appellant felt that the trial court had made an erroneous ruling earlier, it was incumbent upon him to assert that below and urge the court to correct itself. See <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1152 (Fla. 1979) (counsel "deferred to the trial court's statement of the applicable law. This court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law").

(B) The instant claim is meritless -

As indicated, supra, while the trial court initially mentioned the law of the case when the dialogue appeared to be about whether another <u>Frye</u> hearing was being belatedly sought, when defense counsel clarified that he did not seek a <u>Frye</u> hearing but only rephrasing of the question, the prosecutor complied and examination of the witness proceeded.

The gist of Bolin's argument - that there was some type of

⁹If there was any confusion, perhaps it was exacerbated by trial counsel requesting prior to the commencement of trial to adopt prior motions and rulings including the previous <u>Frye</u> hearing and ruling in 1996 (R13, 478 - 479). When the court mentioned the law of the case doctrine, appellant neither objected nor interposed any view on that (R13, 480). There was no request or suggestion that the court was committing error.

error under Brim v. State, 695 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1997) and later cases - is not present here. Appellant might have a more persuasive argument if the state only produced a molecular biologist without an accompanying statistical expert to explain both aspects of DNA evidence. But that error did not occur. Instead, Walsh and Cotton explained the biological prong and Dr. Christopher Basten explained the statistics, that it was 2100 times more likely that Bolin was the source than if it is some random unrelated person. There was no error in Walsh's having used the term "match" since he was referring to the bands on the autorads and Dr. Basten explained the statistical meaning of that event. See <u>Butler v. State</u>, _So. 2d_, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S461, 464 (Fla. 2002) ("Dr. Eberhardt's testimony did for the jurors what the expert's testimony could not - it explained the significance of the information and data they were given... She explained that she then calculated a statistical frequency that could tell her "how common or rare that type of profile would be found in any given population".... This testimony quantitatively helped the jury and the trial court understand the importance of a DNA match"). Dr. Basten's testimony similarly applied that function to supplement the Walsh - Cotton testimony. 10

¹⁰There is no reasonable likelihood that the jury was unreasonably or irrationally swayed by Walsh's describing a match of the banding pattern in the autorads in light of Dr.

Appellant's suggestion that Walsh and his supervisor Dr. Robin Cotton disagreed about the results of the testing is erroneous. Dr. Cotton testified that he supervised the work of David Walsh (R17, 1198), that he looked at the autorads and Bolin could not be excluded as a possible donor of the DNA stain. He testified that Bolin had six bands, the stain had five and the five bands in the stain are completely consistent with the five bands from Bolin. One band was missing and the most likely explanation for that is that there was not very much DNA obtained from the stain (R17, 1199). Cotton reviewed Walsh's procedures - there was nothing inconsistent with Cellmark protocol - and Walsh's notes were very detailed. correctly followed the protocol that was in use for RFLP testing (R17, 1202). Cotton reiterated that the band missing from the semen stain was a G-3 probe and in this case the G-3 probe was likely the last one done and the ability of the DNA on the nylon to give a clear signal gets reduced (R17, 1204 - 06). On crossexamination he declared that he could say within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that he had five bands in the evidence that match six bands in Bolin, i.e., he can say five

Basten's explanation that regarding the one in 2100 figure and applying an adjustment factor to arrive at 1 in 1200, there would be about 200,000 to 280,000 people in the United States that might match that (R17, 1239).

match five of the six (R17, 1211).

Cotton's testimony was consistent with that of Mr. Walsh who testified that he extracted DNA from semen stain on the slacks he received (R16, 1155). He produced an autoradiograph, a piece of x-ray film and was able to see a banding pattern (R16, 1157). The DNA banding pattern from the combined semen stain extract did not match the DNA banding pattern obtained from the blood of Gary McClelland or Teri Lynn Mathews and they could be excluded as donors of the stain on the slacks (R16, 1159). In 1990 he received a blood sample from Bolin, extracted his DNA and produced an autorad showing his banding pattern. He saw six bands though the four probes and five bands were visible on the semen stain (R16, 1160-61). He concluded five bands detected on the semen stain matched five of the six bands from the known blood sample of Bolin. The one unseen band on the evidentiary sample was not seen because you lose a portion of DNA through the process (R16, 1161-62). There was a match of the bands and he could not exclude Bolin as the source (R16, Contrary to appellant's suggestion, there is no similarity to Murray v. State, _So. 2d_, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S816 (Fla. 2002).

Appellant's claim is both barred and meritless and should be denied by this Court. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the introduction of evidence.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL WHERE THE RECORD DOES NOT REFLECT THE FACT THAT PROSPECTIVE JURORS WERE SWORN FOR VOIR DIRE AND APPELLANT DID NOT ASSERT SUCH A CLAIM BELOW.

<u>Standard of Review</u> - Legal questions are reviewed de novo. In this instance, this claim is procedurally barred as it was not even presented to the lower court for resolution.

The instant record merely does not affirmatively reflect the fact that prospective jurors were or were not sworn prior to voir dire; it does reflect the fact that after voir dire the selected jurors were sworn prior to the beginning of trial (R13, 488 - 489) Appellant did not offer any complaint or objection below at the time of or after trial and consequently his claim is procedurally barred.

Florida courts and those courts which review Florida cases have held that there is no reversible or fundamental error where, as here, appellant has not submitted any evidence that in fact prospective jurors were not sworn before voir dire. See United States v. Pinero, 948 F.2d 698, 699 (11th Cir. 1991) ("The mere absence of an affirmative statement in the record, however, is not enough to establish that the jury was not in fact sworn"), citing also United States v. Hopkins, 458 F.2d 1353, 1354 (5th Cir. 1972).

In <u>Pena v. State</u>, 829 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2DCA 2002), the court through Judge Altenbernd disposed of a similar claim:

- [4] Mr. Pena argues that the trial court committed fundamental error when it failed to swear the venire prior to jury selection. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.300(a) requires that the members of the venire, the group of jurors from which a jury will be selected, each swear that they will truthfully answer all questions during jury selection. Mr. Pena does not cite any prior cases directly on point. Instead, he relies on cases holding that it is error for the trial court to fail to swear the trial jurors prior to the commencement of trial as required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.360. See Brown v. State, 29 Fla. 543, 10 So. 736 (1892); compare Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.300(a) with Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.360 (requiring jurors to swear they will truly try issues in case and render a true verdict according to law and evidence).
- [5] In response, the State argues that it is a common practice for another judge or a deputy clerk to swear the potential jurors in another room, when they are part of a general jury pool, prior to the venire's assignment to any particular courtroom. Case law permits a trial judge to delegate to a deputy clerk the process of swearing potential jurors. See Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 648, 660 (Fla. 1995). From its own experience, this court is aware that the oath is sometimes given to the venire in another courtroom in presence of a different court Nevertheless, we cannot and will not rely on factual information about the jury selection process that is outside our record.

It is clear from our record that the trial judge did not swear the venire. It is clear that no lawyer asked the judge to swear the venire or to confirm that the potential jurors were already sworn. Mr. Pena has not alleged or proven by posttrial motions or affidavits that the venire was unsworn.

We are not required to decide whether it would be fundamental error to conduct a trial with members of a venire that had not been sworn. In this case, there is simply no record as to whether the venire was sworn. As a result, Mr. Pena is unable to demonstrate that the jurors from the venire were not sworn. He does not claim that any member of the venire gave untruthful answers during questioning. In this case, we merely hold that fundamental error is not established by a record that fails to demonstrate, one way or the other, whether the venire received the oath required by 3.300(a).

The instant claim does not constitute fundamental error and appellant is procedurally barred from urging on appeal a claim not preserved by objection in the lower court. In <u>Martin v. State</u>, 816 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 5DCA 2002), another case asserting as error the failure of the record to show the jurors were sworn prior to voir dire examination, the court ruled:

However, Martin failed to raise this objection at trial. Had counsel objected at trial the prospective jurors could have been sworn or if they had already been sworn, the judge could have noted that fact in the record. See Ellis v. State, 25 Fla. 702, 6 So. In addition, Martin accepted the jury. 768 (1889). selection issues are deemed waived after acceptance of the jury, unless the objection is renewed, or the jury is accepted subject to an earlier objection. See, e.g., Joiner v. State, 618 So. 2d 174 1993) (defendant waived any objection prosecutor's use of peremptory strikes minority jurors where, without reserving earlier objection, defense affirmatively accepted the jury immediately before it was sworn); Stripling v. State, 664 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (defense claims that trial court unduly restricted voir dire inquiry were not preserved for appellate review where defendant affirmatively accepted the jury and did not renew his objection at any time prior to swearing of the jury); Casimiro v. State, 557 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 567 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 1990) (defendant waived all objections concerning jury composition when defendant accepted jury panel); Springer v. State, 513 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (if defendant objects before trial to possible interim service by one or more of his jurors, court must afford supplemental voir dire; however, that objection is waived if the defendant fails to raise or re-urge the objection before trial when supplemental voir dire could effectively be held). (Id. at 188)

The Martin court rejected a defense argument of fundamental error by noting that it had found no case so holding and similar claims have been held not to rise to the level of fundamental error citing Fernandez v. State, 786 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001) (failure of contemporaneous objection precluded reversal where transcript did not reflect that interpreter took interpreter's oath and it was not fundamental error) Rodriquez v. State, 664 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (failure to have interpreter sworn was not fundamental error, there was no contemporaneous objection, and the matter could have readily been cured if timely called to the attention of the trial court). <u>See also, Lott v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 457 (1 DCA 2002) (Denying claim of ineffective assistance for failure to object to failure to place jurors under oath prior to voir dire.) The <u>Lott</u> court explained:

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